**Zeitschrift:** Acta Tropica

**Herausgeber:** Schweizerisches Tropeninstitut (Basel)

**Band:** 31 (1974)

Heft: 2

**Artikel:** Immunological diagnosis of human filariases : present possibilities,

difficulties and limitations [a review]

**Autor:** Ambroise-Thomas, Pierre

**DOI:** https://doi.org/10.5169/seals-311955

# Nutzungsbedingungen

Die ETH-Bibliothek ist die Anbieterin der digitalisierten Zeitschriften auf E-Periodica. Sie besitzt keine Urheberrechte an den Zeitschriften und ist nicht verantwortlich für deren Inhalte. Die Rechte liegen in der Regel bei den Herausgebern beziehungsweise den externen Rechteinhabern. Das Veröffentlichen von Bildern in Print- und Online-Publikationen sowie auf Social Media-Kanälen oder Webseiten ist nur mit vorheriger Genehmigung der Rechteinhaber erlaubt. Mehr erfahren

#### **Conditions d'utilisation**

L'ETH Library est le fournisseur des revues numérisées. Elle ne détient aucun droit d'auteur sur les revues et n'est pas responsable de leur contenu. En règle générale, les droits sont détenus par les éditeurs ou les détenteurs de droits externes. La reproduction d'images dans des publications imprimées ou en ligne ainsi que sur des canaux de médias sociaux ou des sites web n'est autorisée qu'avec l'accord préalable des détenteurs des droits. En savoir plus

# Terms of use

The ETH Library is the provider of the digitised journals. It does not own any copyrights to the journals and is not responsible for their content. The rights usually lie with the publishers or the external rights holders. Publishing images in print and online publications, as well as on social media channels or websites, is only permitted with the prior consent of the rights holders. Find out more

**Download PDF: 20.08.2025** 

ETH-Bibliothek Zürich, E-Periodica, https://www.e-periodica.ch

Laboratory for Parasitology and Tropical Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, University of Grenoble, La Tronche, France

# Immunological Diagnosis of Human Filariases: Present Possibilities, Difficulties and Limitations (a Review)

# PIERRE AMBROISE-THOMAS

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	109
2.	The methods and their results	109
	2.1 Examination for skin hypersensitivity (skin test)	109
	2.1.1 Antigens used	111
	2.1.2 Reading conditions	111
	2.1.3 Specificity	111
	2.1.4 Reproducibility	112
	2.1.5 Diagnostic and epidemiological importance	112
	2.2 In vitro tests for the study of cell-type immunity	112
	2.3 Complement fixation reaction	112
	2.4 Passive haemagglutination tests	113
	2.5 Precipitation tests: double gel diffusion and immuno-electrophoresis	113
	2.6 Indirect fluorescent antibody tests	116
	2.6.1 Test using soluble antigen (SAFA test)	116
	2.6.2 Test using microfilariae or whole or fragmented larvae	116
	2.6.3 Test on sections of adult filariae	119
3.	General discussion	119
	3.1 Technical problems	119
	3.1.1 Filarial antigens used	119
	3.1.2 Performance of the test and interpretation of the results	121
	3.2 Results	121
	3.2.1 Immunology in the diagnosis of filariasis	121
	3.2.2 Immunology in the post-therapeutic control of filariasis	122
	3.2.3 Immunology in the epidemiological study of filariasis	123
	3.2.4 Immunology in the biological or pathogenic study of filariasis	123
4.	Conclusions	124
	ferences	124
	sammenfassung, Résumé	128

#### Abstract

The diagnosis of filarial infections is one of the most complex fields of parasitic sero-immunology. In this study the results of the last ten years are reviewed. The first part is an analysis of the most commonly used methods: skin test, complement fixation reaction, passive haemagglutination test, double gel diffusion, immuno-electrophoresis and indirect fluorescent antibody test.

The advantages and disadvantages of each of this methods are discussed. The most important problems of sero-immunological diagnosis of filariases are discussed, especially concerning the values of the uses of different specific antigens (i.e. Wuchereria bancrofti, Onchocerca volvulus) or group antigens (Dirofilaria immitis or Dipetalonema viteae, in general) as well as the availability of the antigens. The sero-immunological methods play an important role in the diagnosis of filariases, in post-therapeutic controls and in epidemiological and pathogenic research studies. The conclusions of different authors using the same methods may sometimes be contradictory and the interpretation of the results is often difficult because of cross-reactions between different nematodes.

#### 1. Introduction

Filarial infections, which are widespread in several regions of the world, constitute a very heterogenous group of parasitic diseases. Some of them (wuchereriasis, onchocerciasis) may cause particularly severe complications.

Biological diagnosis of these diseases is normally carried out by examination for microfilariae, which are present in the blood or the dermal fluid. In spite of several recent technical improvements, this parasitological examination may be inadequate in cases of slight infection or because of the periodic nature and quantitative variations of the parasitaemia. From the practical viewpoint, this explains the importance attached to immunological diagnosis. From the theoretical viewpoint, research in this field is all the more justified because filariases develop over very long periods – most filariae parasitic to man live for 10 years or longer – and because these parasitic diseases are often accompanied by allergic manifestations that reflect the importance of the immunological phenomena they cause.

The immunological study of filariasis goes back almost 60 years, for the first work on the subject was published in 1916 (RODHAIN & VAN DEN BRANDEN). Since then there have been a very large number of publications on this subject and new ones appear each year. This wealth of literature reflects the importance of the question, and altogether it reveals definite technical advances. However, since the authors often use different immunological methods or antigenic reagents, the results sometimes seem contradictory, and it may be difficult for the reader to follow the development of ideas and to obtain a clear overall picture of what is one of the most complex fields of parasitic sero-immunology.

Here therefore we shall attempt to present a general review. It is based essentially on the most important publications of recent years. A remarkably full general survey of older works was published by KAGAN in 1963.

First of all we shall consider the various methods: the examination for skin hypersensitivity and *in vitro* serological tests. In each case the references and the chief results are presented in tables, then discussed. In a later section the essential features of these analytical reviews are grouped together so as to reveal the present possibilities, the difficulties and the limitations of the immunological diagnosis of filariasis.

#### 2. The Methods and their Results

# 2.1 Examination for skin hypersensitivity (skin test)

This is by far the most frequently used method: even in 1963 KAGAN listed 79 publications on the skin test. Table 1 summarizes a few of the main results obtained since that time.

Table 1. Examination for skin hypersensitivity (skin test)

Authors	Antigens used	Country and filariases studied	Results: No. of positive No. of cases		Observations
Higashi, Dastidar & Chowdhury (1968)	Saline extracts: W.b. µF W.b. i.l. D.i. Ad. Purified antigen FSCD 1	Japan Wuch.	F+ 5/10 F+ 13/16 F+ 16/16	Eleph. 13/15 15/17 4/4	Negative controls 19+/21 4+/17 31+/38 Larval antigen the most specific
Sawada, Sato, Matsuyama, Miyagi & Shinzato (1968)	D.i. Ad. Purified antigen FSCD 1	Japan Wuch.	F+ 80/91 F- S+ 15/20 Treated cont 65/85	(88 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) (75 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) rols: (77 °/ <sub>0</sub> )	In endemic zone: 340/403: increased percentage with age between 15 and 24 years: 96.4 % reactions + 5.5 % microfilaraemia +
GIDEL, BRENGUES & RODHAIN (1969)	D.i. Ad. Purified antigen FSCD 1	UPPER VOLTA Onch. Wuch. D. perst. Wuch. + Onch. Wuch. + D.p. Onch. + D.p.	F+ 15/20 F+ 22/29 F+ 44/52 F+ 3/4 F+ 38/51 F+ 38/69 F+ 31/42	(75 %)0) (75.9 %)0) (84.6 %)0) (74.5 %)0) (55 %)0) (73.7 %)0)	F- and S- subjects: 56/102 (54.9%). In endemic zone: no difference by sex; increased percentage of reactions with age in F- subjects
Sawada, Sato & Sato (1969)	D.i. Ad. Various fractions obtained by chromatography FST 3 FST 5 FST 1 FST 2 FST 4 After electrophoresis, fract. FST 3 1 FST 2 x		F+ 24/26 F+ 22/26 F+ 7/26 F+ 4/26 variable reac F+ 14/18 F+ 16/20	tions	
Ulrich, Pinardi & Convit (1970)	O.v. μF	Onch.	F+ 53/61	$(86  ^{0}/_{0})$	Negative controls: 4+/13
SMITH, WILSON, BEREZANCEV, LYKOV, MYO PAING, SAWADA, CHARI & DAVIS (1971)	D.i. Purified antigen	BURMA Wuch. INDIA Wuch. TANZANIA Wuch.	F+ 83/90 F+ 29/30 F+ 40/47		+ reactions with solvents: 11/90; 10/30; 7/47 in the 3 previous groups. Burmese children with intestinal verminoses: 48+/60 (16+ with solvent). Liverpool control group: 11+/61 (4+ with solvent). Leningrad control group: 13+/55 (1+ with solvent)

# 2.1.1 Antigens used

For a long time the antigens were prepared from very different parasites, and altogether at least 14 species of filariae have been used. Since 1965, following the work of SAWADA et al., there has been a tendency mainly to use purified extracts of adult *Dirofilaria immitis*. These extracts have been precisely analysed (SAWADA, SATO & SATO, 1969): using chromatography with DEAE-sephadex, followed by electrophoresis, it was possible to isolate a fraction made up of a single protein and presumed to be the most active fraction (FST 3 1).

# 2.1.2 Reading conditions

Most authors regard the test as positive if a wheal at least 0.4 cm<sup>2</sup> in area (7 mm in diameter) is observed 15 minutes after intradermal injection of 0.2 ml of antigen. Agreement is far from complete, however, and as SMITH et al. (1971) pointed out the extreme limits of readings accepted as positive vary widely: CIFFERI et al. (1965) accept an induration of 1 cm<sup>2</sup> (11 mm in diameter), while KATAMINE (1969) accepts an increase of 3 mm in the diameter of the wheal over its initial value. Applying these criteria of positive reactions in turn, SMITH et al. (1971) obtained, respectively, 22% of false positive reactions in control subjects and 53-85% negative reactions among confirmed filariasis cases.

# 2.1.3 Specificity

This is clearly dependent on the antigen and on the conditions under which the test is read. Even using D. immitis antigen, positive tests with wheals of  $0.4 \,\mathrm{cm^2}$  are often observed in non-filarial subjects. Outside the endemic areas the incidence of these cross-reactions varies between  $26\,\%$  and  $38\,\%$  of cases (SMITH). In tropical countries it reaches  $54.9\,\%$  (study by GIDEL et al., 1969, using Sawada antigen) and even  $80\,\%$  according to SMITH et al. (1971). According to these authors, false positive reactions can be observed in  $10-30\,\%$  of cases when the solvent alone is injected.

Moreover, there are many cross-reactions between the various human filariases and the Sawada *D. immitis* antigen cannot be regarded as specific to wuchereriasis.

#### Abbreviations

B.m.	=	Brugia malayi	$\mu$ F	=	microfilariae
		Dirofilaria immitis	$_{ ext{i.l.}}^{\mu  ext{F}}$	=	infesting larvae
D.m.	=	Dracunculus medinensis	Ad.	=	adults
D.r.	=	Dirofilaria repens	F+, F-	==	presence or absence of
		Dipetalonema sp.	950		microfilariae
D.v.	=	Dipetalonema viteae	S+, S-	=	presence or absence of
		(or witei)			clinical signs of filariases
L.c.	=	Litomosoïdes carinii	Onch.	==	Onchocerciasis
L.l.	==	Loa loa	Wuch.	==	Wuchereriasis
O.v.	=	Onchocerca volvulus	Drac.	=	Dracunculiasis
S.c.	=	Setaria cervi	D. perst.	=	Dipetalonema perstans
S.1.	=	Setaria labiatopapillosa			filariasis
W.b.	=	Wuchereria bancrofti	D. rep.	=	Dirofilaria repens filariasis
A.s.	=	Ascaris suum	D.imm.		Dirofilaria immitis filariasis
F.h.	=	Fasciola hepatica	D.sp.	=	Dirofilaria sp. filariasis
S.m.	=	Schistosoma mansoni			

In the study by GIDEL et al. (1969), in fact, the highest percentage of positive reactions was obtained for infection with *Dipetalonema perstans* (84.6%), while onchocerciasis gave almost as many positive reactions (75%) as wuchereriasis (75.9%).

# 2.1.4 Reproducibility

This received a severe assessment from SMITH et al. (1971), who repeated the test on 56 subjects and obtained results ranging for example from 0.7 to 1 cm<sup>2</sup>. Clearly, this low reproducibility makes it even more difficult to establish a criterion of positive reactions.

## 2.1.5 Diagnostic and epidemiological importance

The skin test is easy to use in the field and is entirely suitable for epidemiological surveys, providing much more faithful results than examination for microfilariae (surveys on wuchereriasis by Sawada et al., 1968). In the endemic zone the positive reaction rate increases with the age of the population examined.

# 2.2 *In vitro* tests for the study of cell-type immunity

These tests are still very little used in filariasis. However, the study by PINON & GENTILINI (1973) shows the importance of the leukocyte migration inhibition test and the rosette test. When carried out with an antigen extracted from Onchocerca volvulus these tests appear to be specific. They were consistently positive in 15 patients suffering from various filarial diseases who sometimes yielded negative results in serological tests. Since they are relatively complicated, these tests seem primarily suitable for basic research, particularly as the precise nature of the phenomena they reveal remains debatable.

# 2.3 Complement fixation reaction (Table 2)

This is the serological test with the longest history of application to filariasis (Rodhain & van den Branden, 1916). For a long time it was the most frequently used (44 references given by Kagan in 1963). In recent years workers seem to have attached less importance to it, and the chief recent study is that by Gidel et al. (1969) using the Sawada antigen. Positive reaction rates varying from 10–60% were obtained for the various types of filariasis. Paradoxically the Sawada antigen, when used in the skin test in the same study, gave 75% positive reactions for onchocerciasis and 75.9% for wuchereriasis, but when used in the complement fixation test it produced 60% positive reactions for onchocerciasis and only 10.4% for wuchereriasis. This discrepancy might be associated with poor preservation of some sera, with poor anticomplementary potency, or with the fact that in microfilaraemic filariasis the microfilariae may neutralize the circulating antibodies.

From the epidemiological viewpoint, moreover, the skin test is more reliable than the complement fixation test. The latter reveals no significant difference between subjects with microfilaraemia and others (which tends to invalidate the hypothesis given above), but its positive reaction rate rises very substantially with the age of the patients examined.

Authors	Antigens used	Country and filariases studied	Results: No. of positive cases/ No. of cases examined	Observations
LARTIGUE (1965)	O.v.	Onch.	F+ 39/49 (78 %) F-S+ 13/20	
Gidel, Brengues & Rodhain (1969)	D.i. (Sawada antigen)	Onch. Wuch. D. perst. Wuch. + Onch. Wuch. + D.P. Onch. + D.P. Onch. + D.P.	F+ 12/20 (60 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) F+ 3/29 (10.4 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) F+ 14/52 (26.9 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) F+ 1/4 F+ 9/51 (17.7 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) F+ 39/69 (56.5 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) F+ 14/42 (33.3 °/ <sub>0</sub> )	Sero-epidemiological survey: F+ 34.5 % pos. in CF F- 38.2 % pos. in CF difference not significant No difference by sex Marked increase in positive reaction rate with age
Tanaka, Fujita, Sasa, Tagawa, Naito & Kurikawa (1970)	D.i. L.c. S.c.	Wuch. and experimental filariases due to L.c., S.c., B.m., D.v.		Study of different extraction procedures Best results obtained with a coca solution

Table 2. Complement fixation reaction (CF)

# 2.4 Passive haemagglutination tests (Table 3)

Studies published since 1963 show that on the whole this test gives fairly reliable positive results for the various types of filariasis. Unfortunately its specificity appears to be low, since cross-reactions may be observed with certain feverish conditions or with syphilis (Rosé et al., 1966), with about 10% of the various parasitic diseases (Kagan et al., 1963), and indeed with almost 35% of trichinoses. Conversely, antigens extracted from Ascaris suum yield positive results with sera from filarial subjects in 30-60% of cases (Rosé et al., 1966).

# 2.5 Precipitation tests: double gel diffusion and immuno-electrophoresis (Table 4)

Although precipitation tests in liquid medium are hardly used any longer, double gel diffusion and immuno-electrophoresis are attracting increasing interest in the study of filariasis. Methodologically, the Ouchterlony test is generally used as a screening test as a kind of preliminary to immuno-electrophoresis. Under simple conditions and comparatively quickly, this test permits the filariases to be distinguished from other helminthic tissue infections capable of causing eosino-philia. It takes several days to carry out immuno-electrophoresis but the specificity of the test at present seems unsurpassable: in loaiasis, wuchereriasis and onchocerciasis, characteristic precipitation arcs are obtained not only with the homo-

<sup>\*</sup> Abbreviations: see Table 1.

Table 3. Passive haemagglutination reaction (HA)

Authors	Antigens used	Country and filariases studied	Results: No. of positive cases/ No. of cases examined	Observations	
Kagan, Norman & Allain (1963)	D.i.	USA D. perst.	F+ 12/13  F+ 8/23 (Agglutination test with sensitized bentonite particles)	10 % cross-reactions with various parasitic diseases 35 % with trichinosis	
Rosé, Biguet, Rosé & D'Haussy (1966)	O.v.	FRANCE Onch. D. perst. Drac. Loaiasis Wuch.	F+ 23/23 F+ 5/5 F+ 9/9 F+ 2/2 F+ 2/2	Weak positive reactions for feverish infections or syphilis	
	A.s. Antigen extracted from whole worm Coelomic fluid	Onch.	F+ 3/11 F+ 6/11	Ascaris antigen: limit of specificity of test at least 1/128	
Fujita, Tanaka, Sasa, Shichi- nohe, Asai & Kurokawa (1970)	L.c. D.v. B.m. S.c. D.v.	Japan Experimental filariases due to D.i., L.c., S.c., and D.v.			
Pinon & Gentilini, (1973); Gentilini, Pinon, Niel & Rosin (1973)	O.v.	France Wuch. Onch. Loaiasis Drac.	F+ 0/3 F+ 4/8 F+ 1/2 F+ 1/1	10 health subjects and 10 patients with schistosomiasis or intestinal anguilluliasis: all negative	

<sup>\*</sup> Abbreviations: see Table 1.

logous antigens, but also with extracts from *D. witei* (CAPRON et al., 1968) or *A. suum* (GENTILINI et al., 1972a). This paradoxical finding is explained by the very analytical character of the method, which can reveal antigenic fractions common to *Loa loa*, *Wuchereria bancrofti* or *O. volvulus* and *D. witei* or *A. suum*. These common fractions vary from case to case, so that one heterologous antigen ultimately leads to specific results. Although using a completely different methodological approach, the Japanese school of Sawada is really working on the same problem; on the basis of extracts from *D. immitis*, it is attempting to isolate as specific a *W. bancrofti* fraction as possible.

In sero-epidemiological surveys, immuno-electrophoresis faithfully reflects the level of onchocerciasis endemicity in the regions studied (D'Haussy et al., 1972). However, it is not certain that this method, which requires large quantities of both antigen and sera, is best applied for this purpose.

From the diagnostic viewpoint this test provides positivity rates that are slightly lower than those provided by other methods (immunofluorescence). On

Table 4. Double gel diffusion precipitation tests, Ouchterlony test (OT): immuno-electrophoresis (IEP)

Authors	Antigens used	Country and filariasis studied	Results: No. of positive cases/ No. of cases examined	Observations
BIGUET, D'HAUSSY, AUBRY & ROSÉ (1964)	O.v. D.v. D.i. A.s. S.m. F.h.	FRANCE Onch.	F+ 222/250 (88.7 %) F+ 10/11 F+ 5/6 F+ 23/30 F+ 2/16 F+ 7/24	Tests used: OT and IEP Cross-reactions with O.v. antigen: Healthy subjects: 2/37; Drac.: 1/28; D. perst.: 2/9; Wuch.: 0.2; Loaiasis: 0/2; various parasitic diseases: 5/34
Dodin, Moreau & Lambert (1965) Rosé, Biguet, Rosé &	D.v. - μF - Ad. Ο.v.	FRANCE Wuch. FRANCE	F+ 3/5 F+ 1/5 F+ 3/23	OT only OT and IEP
D'HAUSSY (1966) CAPRON, GENTILINI & VERNES (1968)		Onch. FRANCE Onch. Loaiasis Wuch. Drac.	87/100, with 88 F+ F+ 7/16 F- 12/13 F+ 3/10 F- 18/18 5/9 with 8 F+	OT and IEP D.v. and O.v. antigens give comparable results for Onch. D.v. antigen gives major arcs specific to loaiasis, Onch. or Wuch. higher percentage of posi- tives in F- subjects than in
Ulrich, Pinardi & Convit (1970)	O.v. - Ad. - \( \mu F \)	Onch.	F+ 32/50 F+ 3/50	F+ subjects OT only
D'Haussy, Capron, Rolland & Biguet (1972)	O.v.	France Onch.	- 94/97 (hyperendemic zone)	OT and IEP Sero-epidemiological survey in Upper Volta: 500 sub- jects examined
Gentilini, Pinon, Niel & Danis (1972b)	A.s. Coelomic fluid (A.s., c.f. antigen)  Genital tract extract (A.s., O.g. antigen)	France Onch. Loaiasis Wuch. Drac.	F+ 130/132 (98.5 %) F+ 64/68 (94 %) F+ 19/30 (63.3 %) F+ 60/72 (83.5 %)	OT and IEP Study of total of 530 pa- tients, of whom 228 F-
NIEL, GENTILINI, COUTURE, PINON & DANIS (1972)	O.v. Extracted from adult filariae, nodule walls or whole nodules A.s. (A.s., c.f. or O.g. antigen) D.v., Ad.	FRANCE Onch.  Loaiasis Wuch. Drac. Loaiasis	F+ 104/108 (96.3 %) F+ 105/108 (97.3 %) F+ 28/30 (93.3 %) F+ 19/20 (95 %) F+ 12/12 F+ 28/30 (93.3 %)	OT only
	D.v., Ad.	Loaiasis Wuch. Drac.	F+ 28/30 (93.3 %) F+ 9/12 (75 %) F+ 8/8	

Authors	Antigens used	Country and filariasis studied	No	itive cases/ es examined	Observations
PETITHORY, BRUMPT, JAEGER & SOILLEUX (1972)	i.l., μF	FRANCE Loaiasis Wuch. Onch. Drac. D. perst.	F+ F+ F+ F+	(74 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) (19 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) (58 °/ <sub>0</sub> ) (11 °/ <sub>0</sub> )	OT only Specificity checks: 25 healthy subjects neg., 2 pos. results in 12 subjects with visceral larva migrans

Table 4 (continued)

the other hand, its remarkable specificity makes it possible not merely to give a "general" diagnosis but to specify the type of filariasis.

Immuno-electrophoresis is the test in which positivity rates for patients with and without detectable microfilaraemia show the greatest difference.

Finally, developments after treatment are by no means identical, and there may be either a temporary increase or an immediate drop in the number of precipitation arcs.

Quite recently the electro-immunodiffusion test was applied to various parasitic diseases, particularly the filariases (Gentilini et al., 1972a). The principle of this test, carried out on cellulose acetate membrane, is analogous to that of double gel diffusion, but the migration of the serum antibodies and the parasitic antigen is greatly speeded up by the action of a difference in potential at the terminals of the plate. Judging by the preliminary results at present available, this test could be of very great interest, since its diagnostic value seems almost comparable to that of immuno-electrophoresis and it can be carried out much faster.

# 2.6 Indirect fluorescent antibody tests (Table 5)

Starting from a single principle, three different types of test have been developed: they are considered in turn below.

#### 2.6.1 Test using soluble antigen (SAFA test)

The antigenic reagent consists of discs of special paper impregnated with soluble filarial antigens. Initially, therefore, this test is subject to all the difficulties involved in extracting and purifying such antigens. On the other hand, the method is suitable for objective reading with a fluorimeter and, above all, it can be automated, which means that it could be used in large-scale epidemiological surveys. The present results seem promising, but they are still too few in number for any definite assessment to be made of the diagnostic value and in particular of the specificity of the test.

#### 2.6.2 Test using microfilariae or whole or fragmented larvae

In general, whole microfilariae fix fluorescent antibodies only poorly, and fragments obtained by crushing or ultrasonic disintegration yield much better

<sup>\*</sup> Abbreviations: see Table 1.

Table 5. Indirect fluorescent antibody test

Authors	Antigens used	Country and filariases studied	Results: No. of positive cases/ No. of cases examined	Observations
	· I	. Test using soluble	e antigen (SAFA test)	
Duxbury & Sadun (1967)	D.m. D.i. D.v.	USA Wuch. Onch.	212/259	
Colwell, Armstrong, Brown, Dux- bury, Sadun & Legters (1969)	D.i.	USA Wuch.	F+ 16/19 (84.2 %) F- 70/137 (51 %) (subjects born in endemic zone)	Sero-epidemiological survey in Viet-Nam, among US soldiers: 17/112 (15.2%) in advanced positions and 5/91 (5.5%) at base outside the operational zone
	II. Tests with	h microfilariae or	with whole or fragmente	ed larvae
Chowdhury & Schiller (1962)	W.b. B.m. whole $\mu$ F	USA Wuch. B.mal.	F+ 9/9 F+ 1/1	
Lucasse (1962) Lucasse & Hoeppli (1963)	O.v. whole $\mu F$	Onch.	F+ 50/50 (8 of them weakly)	
Mantovani & Sulzer (1967)	D.i. D.r. D.sp. – fragm. μF	USA D. imm. D. rep.	F+ 8/8 F+ 12/12	
Muller (1970)	D.m. first-stage larvae	Drac.	F+ 33/34	Cross-reactions with Onch.
Yong (1973)	W.b. $\mu$ F and first-stage larvae	Fiji Wuch.	with elephantiasis 60/60	No cross-reactions with 105 control sera
	III	. Tests on frozen se	ections of adult filariae	
Coudert, Ambroise- Thomas, Kien Truong & Terreno (1968)	D.i. D.v.	FRANCE Wuch. D. perst. Loaiasis Onch. Drac.	F+ 1/2 F+ 6/8 F+ 38/38 F+ 11/11 F+ 3/4	D.i. and D.v. antigens equivalent
Ambroise- Thomas (1969)	D.i. D.v.	FRANCE Wuch. D. perst. Loaiasis Onch. Drac.	F+ 2/3 F+ 7/9 F+ 48/51 F+ 12/12 F+ 4/4	Specificity checks on 200 control sera, specificity threshold 1/20. Progression after treatment variable

<sup>\*</sup> Abbreviations: see Table 1.

Table 5 (continued)

Authors	Antigens used	Country and filariases studied	Results: No. of positive cases/ No. of cases examined	Observations
Terreno (1970)	D.i. D.v.	FRANCE Drac. D. perst. Loaiasis Wuch. Onch. Loaiasis + Onch.	F+ 5/5 F+ 21/25 (80 %)0) F+ 88/97 (90 %)0 F+ 8/10 F+ 25/27 (92 %)0 F+ 7/7	Loaiasis F-65/75 (87 %) Wuch. F-7/19 Onch. F-16/20 (80 %) Sero-epidemiological survey on Onch., 258 sera: results parallel to level of endemicity
Gentilini, Pinon, Niel & Danis (1972b)	D.i. S.l.	FRANCE Onch. Loaiasis Wuch. Drac. Unidentified filariases	F+ 196/234 (84.2 %) F+ 73/90 (80 %) F+ 31/48 (61 %) F+ 57/72 (77 %) F+ 74/86 (84 %)	Specificity threshold applied: 1/100
Gentilini (1973) Pinon, Raffier & Niel (1972c)	D.v. S.l.	France Drac.	F+ 306/356 (85.96 %) F+ 296/356 (83.16 %)	Specificity checks on 100 sera (various parasitoses): all negative at dilution threshold of 1/80
Ambroise- Thomas & Kien Truong (1972)	D.i. D.v.	FRANCE Drac. Wuch. Loaiasis	F+ 6/6 F+ 88/103 (85.4 %) F- 89/96 (91.9 %) F+ 158/180 (87.8 %) F- 170/187 (90.9 %)	980 specificity checks. 934 Europeans: 98.2 % negative at 1/20. 254 Africans: 88.8 % negative at 1/20
		Onch. Loaiasis + Onch. Loaiasis + D. perst.	F+ 179/197 (94.7 %) F- 64/69 (92.7 %) F+ 21/22 (94.5 %) F+ 24/26 (92.3 %)	Inverse checks: 67 filarial sera tested against S. mansoni, F. hepatica, E. granulosus, A. lumbricoides, S. stercoralis and T. gondii
	L.l. D.v. W.b.	D. perst. Loaiasis Loaiasis Wuch.	F+ 95/113 (84 %) F+ 14/14 (average titre 125) F+ 14/14 (A.T. 56) F+ 29/31 (93.5 %)	Progression after treatment very variable
	D.v.	Wuch.	A.T. 47.1) F+ 27/31 (83.1%, A.T. 27.7)	
	O.v. D.v.	Onch.	F+ 52/52 (A.T. 222) F+ 51/52 (A.T. 145)	
DIESFELD & BRAUN-MUN- ZINGER (1972)	D.v.	Germany Wuch.	62/106 (F+ and F-)	Study mainly intended to check the accuracy of micro-sampling
Pinon & Gentilini (1973) Gentilini, Pinon, Niel & Rosin (1973)	O.v.	Wuch. Onch. Loaiasis Drac.	F+ 1/3 F+ 7/8 F+ 2/2 F+ 1/1	

<sup>\*</sup> Abbreviations: see Table 1.

results. Moreover, this type of corpuscular antigen adheres poorly to object slides. The test is therefore generally carried out in tubes, which reduces its convenience. It appears to give high positivity rates, but its specificity has not yet been adequately checked and in any case seems to lead to divergent conclusions.

#### 2.6.3 Test on sections of adult filariae

From the technical viewpoint, this method has the drawback of requiring special and comparatively expensive equipment for preparing the antigens (taking sections of frozen specimens). On the other hand, one adult filaria provides sufficient antigenic reagents for several thousand tests; these antigens can readily be fixed on microscope slides and obviously cause none of the difficulties of extraction and purification that are associated with soluble antigens. The test can be carried out by counter-staining with Evans blue (Ambroise-Thomas) or without a contrast stain (Gentilini). In this case non-specific fluorescence may hamper reading of the results and, despite technical precautions such as the use of a Teepol solution for rinsing (PINON & GENTILINI, 1972), the specificity threshold rises from 1/20 to 1/80 or 1/100.

This test, which is easy to perform, has been extensively used in recent years. Its specificity (checked on a total of more than 2,000 sera) appears satisfactory.

From the diagnostic viewpoint this at present appears to be the most reliable test, with positivity rates between  $85 \, ^{\circ}/_{\circ}$  and  $90 \, ^{\circ}/_{\circ}$  (in subjects without detectable microfilaraemia, positive fluorescent antibody reactions are more frequent and more marked than in other subjects, but this difference is less marked than in immuno-electrophoresis). However, there are very considerable cross-reactions between the various types of filariasis, which it is impossible to distinguish by this method, using a group antigen such as D. witei.

To some extent the simultaneous use of Loa loa, W. bancrofti and O. volvulus antigens permits a more precise diagnosis by revealing varying increases in fluorescent antibody titres.

The movement of the antibody titres after treatment is very variable: there may be either a temporary rise or an immediate decrease.

This test, which requires little antigenic material and can be carried out with microsamples of blood, is very suitable for sero-epidemiological surveys (DIESFELD & BRAUN-MUNZINGER, 1972); several such surveys are in progress in various endemic regions.

# 3. General Discussion

Basically, the immunology of filariasis leads to consideration of the main technical aspects of the available tests and of the results provided by those tests in regard to the diagnosis, the post-treatment surveillance and the epidemiological study of filarial infections.

# 3.1 Technical problems

# 3.1.1 Filarial antigens used

For the filariases, more than for most other parasitic diseases, the quality of the antigenic reagents is the fundamental factor in any immunological study. These antigens present two problems, one con-

cerning the parasitic material from which they are extracted, the other concerning their preparation and purification.

(a) Origin. Except perhaps for O. volvulus, it is practically impossible to obtain sufficient filariae of the species parasitic to man to extract antigenic reagents. This leads either to the use of other nemathelminths such as Ascaris suum (studies by BIGUET et al., 1965, and by GENTILINI et al., 1972a) or, which is certainly preferable, to the use of filariae that are parasitic to various animals. At present, D. immitis is usually selected. However, this species is becoming increasingly difficult to obtain in a number of countries where D. witei – whose cycle is readily reproduced in the laboratory – is used as a source of antigen. It seems that these two species provide largely comparable results, but checks are still essential, particularly as regards the value of the D. witei antigen in intradermal tests.

As regards the stage of development of the parasite, most authors prepare their antigenic extracts from adult filariae. This seems perfectly justified, particularly for practical reasons. Nevertheless, it should be checked that the larval stages (microfilariae or infesting larvae collected from the arthropod intermediate host) have no special antigenicity, as some studies appear to show.

(b) Preparation and purification. Two types of antigenic reagent can be used: "corpuscular" antigens (larval stages, fragments or sections of filariae) and "soluble" antigens extracted from the parasites.

In the former case, the preparation conditions are generally simple and there are no problems of purification. These antigens can be used only *in vitro* and for one test (indirect fluorescent antibody test); they appear to give fairly satisfactory results, although these results cannot be strictly specific to a particular filariasis.

The soluble antigens are generally obtained by freeze-drying the worms, crushing them and removing the lipids, followed by the action of a saline solution. The principal difficulty lies in their purification, for the filariae have a complex antigenic constitution and within this "antigenic mosaic" there are a very large number of fractions that are common to all filarial species and are even found in most other nemathelminths. In one way these common antigenic features are an advantage, since they make it possible to prepare antigens from filariae parasitic to animals. On the other hand, they clearly make it very complicated to purify the reagents afterwards.

The dilemma, therefore, is that a non-purified antigen is certainly not specific, while on the other hand there is the risk that a specific fraction oftained by excessive purification may no longer be active. This shows how essential is the research in this field being conducted by several teams (SAWADA). At each stage of the experiment, however, it would be desirable to carry out more numerous trials so as to permit

a better assessment of the value of the various fractions isolated and a comparison with the value of antigens obtained by more simple means. At present, these comparative checks generally cover only a few dozen tests, which is not sufficient to justify definite conclusions.

# 3.1.2 Performance of the tests and interpretation of the results

The standardization of immunological tests is still a source of many difficulties. In the intradermal test such standardization seems almost to have been achieved (inject 0.2 ml of antigen, read after 15 minutes by measuring the area, not the diameter, of the wheal, which should be at least 0.4 cm² for the test to be positive). However, it still remains to define the characteristics of the antigen more precisely, both quantitatively (concentration of total nitrogen) and qualitatively (e.g. checks using immuno-electrophoresis).

In the case of serological tests, it is probably pointless at present to hope for complete uniformity of operating conditions. Workers could at least follow the example of what has been done for toxoplasmosis – incidentally at the instigation of WHO – and adopt the system of pools of reference sera, so that results could be expressed in International Units. This could easily be done and would have the immense advantage of making all the results of quantitative tests (complement fixation, passive haemagglutination, agglutination, fluorescent antibody) mutually comparable, which is not permitted by the present method of recording results (in terms of dilution rates) that does not refer to any common standard.

# 3.2 Results

# 3.2.1 Immunology in the diagnosis of filariasis

A very large number of cases have been studied by the various immunological methods. On the whole, these tests seem considerably more reliable than the traditional procedures of examination for microfilariae. This comparison should be reconsidered, taking into account the recent technical improvements in the parasitological diagnosis of filariasis (e.g. use of microfiltration). Moreover, it is a pity that the different serological tests cannot be rigorously compared: most studies are carried out by a single method, and it is unusual for the same patients to be examined by different tests applied in parallel.

As regards diagnosis, the main problem presented by immunological tests concerns the specificity of the results. This problem must be considered at three different levels.

First, some non-specific reactions are associated with the method itself (positive intradermal reactions following injection of the solvent

alone). They involve special cases only (hyperergic patients) and seem difficult to avoid.

The second aspect concerns cross-reactions between filarial infections and other diseases, whether parasitic or not. In the present state of techniques and reagents, these false positive reactions appear to be numerous (2–30%, depending on the test) and mainly concern the various roundworm helminthiases. Efforts must clearly be made to reduce this risk of error, and also to make a better evaluation of its current level. In particular, cross-reactions are much more frequent in tropical countries where many nematodoses are prevalent. In such countries, therefore, more extensive control of the specificity of immunological tests is particularly important. At the same time this is very difficult to achieve, in that the study must be carried out on subjects who are definitely not infected with filariae but who live in areas where various filariases are often endemic.

Finally, in so far as the other problems of specificity are solved, immunological tests generally supply only a general diagnosis, and the extent of the common antigenic features shared by the filariae almost always prevents workers from taking the diagnosis further and distinguishing between the various filariases. Such a distinction is all the more important because these diseases are of varying severity, and treatment with diethyl-carbamazine causes side effects that are not justified when the filariae present are non-pathogenic (e.g. D. perstans); at present a precise diagnosis can be established only by combining several methods. The immunological tests may be regarded primarily as a screening method; if they should prove positive, numerous parasitological examinations may be conducted until the microfilariae are discovered and identified. It is also possible to apply several immunological tests whose results complement each other - intradermal test, complement fixation, passive haemagglutination, double gel diffusion, or fluorescent antibody - as screening tests (general diagnosis of "filariasis"), followed by immuno-electrophoresis for the precise identification of the filarial species (specific precipitation arcs). With indirect fluorescent antibody tests, simultaneous use of several specific antigens may also lead to the same result. In many cases, however, serological ambiguity persists (absence of specific arcs in immuno-electrophoresis; similar fluorescent antibody titres with all antigens) and it is impossible to tell whether it is the method that is at fault or whether the patient is harbouring several types of filariae simultaneously.

# 3.2.2 Immunology in the post-therapeutic control of filariasis

Serological developments after treatment are not uniform. Sometimes there is a temporary rise in antibody titres or in the number of precipitation arcs, sometimes an immediate drop. These variations are

no doubt due to the fact that diethylcarbamazine, which gives rise to side effects, is usually prescribed in very gradually increasing doses and is administered at the same time as various antihistamines or corticoids. In any case, this field has still been inadequately studied. In particular, it is not known whether, after a complete cure, the serological findings become completely negative, and if so within what period. This information would be particularly valuable from the practical viewpoint since it is difficult to make a definite verification of a cure by other biological tests.

# 3.2.3 Immunology in the epidemiological study of filariasis

During the last 10 years, immunological techniques have on several occasions been used in epidemiological studies. On the whole the results appear conclusive, particularly in the case of wuchereriasis where the parasitological diagnosis encounters various practical difficulties regarding sampling "in the field". However, some of these surveys are "sero-epidemiological" only in name and mainly amount to a seroimmunological study grafted more or less artificially on to epidemiological surveillance campaigns. It would therefore be desirable to resume and expand studies of this kind but in a different spirit, regarding immunology as a means and not as an end in itself. In assessing the results, not only the accuracy of the results but also the convenience of using the methods should be taken into account. In addition, at least some of these studies should be conducted by a longitudinal rather than a pinpoint technique. This would permit a better assessment of the methods' epidemiological value, and in particular their reproducibility. In the case of intradermal tests it would be essential to know whether there is a risk that repeated intradermal injections may lead to positive reactions to skin tests or serological tests.

# 3.2.4 Immunology in the biological or pathogenic study of filariasis

Sero-immunological tests, which reflect the extent and complexity of host-parasite relationships, are particularly suitable for certain basic research.

Among the many problems, it would be interesting to know more about the relationships between serology and microfilaraemia and between serology and clinical severity in the various filariases.

As regards the former relationship, it seems that in infections with sanguicolous microfilariae, serological tests are more often positive in subjects with negative microfilaraemia than in other patients. However, there is no unanimous agreement on whether this phenomenon actually occurs (e.g. GIDEL et al., 1969, found no significant difference in the complement fixation reaction) or on its extent (the differences appear much greater in immuno-electrophoresis – CAPRON et al., 1968, 1970 –

than in the fluorescent antibody test — Ambroise-Thomas & Kien Truong, 1972). More thorough research on the subject is therefore essential. In particular, it is important to define clearly the criteria whereby a patient without microfilaraemia may still be regarded as filarial. It will then still be necessary to explain the mechanism whereby microfilaraemia may modify the circulating antibody titres. The hypothesis most frequently put forward involves a blocking process *in vivo* (whereby the microfilariae fix the antibodies, which, when there is very little or no microfilaraemia, remain free and therefore readily detectable), but it needs to be confirmed.

As regards the pathogenesis, it is possible that the sero-immuno-logical tests will contribute to the recognition and better understanding of the severity of certain symptoms and various complications. In a preliminary study, for example, this has been achieved for the diagnosis of filarial arthritic conditions by means of the rosette test (WALTZING & BLOCH-MICHEL, 1971). For wuchereriasis, likewise, it seems that patients with elephantiasis have a particularly high immunological response. In another field, it is known that onchocerciasis in West Africa causes more blindness in savanna regions than in forest regions. The serological tests might perhaps permit a more precise study of this phenomenon and even explain it, since there seem to be parallels between the immunological data and eye morbidity in onchocerciasis (D'Haussy et al., 1972).

### 4. Conclusions

To make an exhaustive review of all studies of filariasis immunology is a virtually impossible task. We have therefore attempted to pick out the essentials from the main studies, which at the same time as providing many positive results reveal almost as many new unknown features. All this clearly reflects not only the complexity but also the importance of the phenomena concerned. Their applications are both theoretical and practical, particularly in diagnosis and epidemiology. The sero-immunological tests could render valuable services at a time when it is possible to hope for the eradication of various filariases from some parts of the world but when ecological changes or population movements are causing the areas where filariasis is endemic to expand. To be effective in this way, moreover, these tests will need to be further improved and above all better standardized.

# References

Ambroise-Thomas, P. (1969). Etude séro-immunologique de dix parasitoses par les techniques d'immunofluorescence. – Thèse doct. ès-sc., Lyon, France, 644 pp., 967 réf.

- Ambroise-Thomas, P. & Kien Truong, T. (1972). La réaction d'immunofluorescence indirecte sur coupes de filaires adultes dans le diagnostic sérologique, l'étude épidémiologique et le contrôle post-thérapeutique des filarioses humaines, document OMS non publié WHO/FIL/72.101.
- BIGUET, J., D'HAUSSY, R., AUBRY, M. & Rosé, F. (1964). Etude des anticorps précipitants chez les sujets atteints d'onchocercose. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 57, 1098–1116.
- BIGUET, J., D'HAUSSY, R., CAPRON, A., TRAN VAN KY, P. & AUBRY, M. (1962). Les antigènes de *Onchocerca volvulus*. I. Etude immuno-électrophorétique préliminaire. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 55, 845–855.
- BIGUET, J., Rosé, A., CAPRON, A. & TRAN VAN KY, P. (1965). Contribution de l'analyse immuno-électrophorétique à la connaissance des antigènes vermineux. Rev. Immunol. 29, 5–30.
- CAPRON, A., GENTILINI, M. & BIGUET, J. (1970). Immunologic diagnosis of filariasis by immuno-electrophoresis. H. D. Srivastava Commemorative volume, 527–536.
- Capron, A., Gentilini, M. & Vernes, A. (1968). Le diagnostic immunologique des filarioses. Possibilités nouvelles offertes par l'immuno-électrophorèse. Path. Biol. 16, 1039–1045.
- Chowdhury, A. B. & Schiller, E. L. (1962). Preliminary observations on the applications of fluorescent antibody technique in the laboratory diagnosis of filariasis. Bull. Calcutta School trop. Med. 10, 97–99.
- CIFFERRI, F., KESSEL, J. F., LEWIS, W. P. & RIEGER, S. (1965). Immunologic studies in onchocerciasis and bancroftian filariasis. I. Intracutaneous tests with antigens extracted from *Onchocerca* and *Dirofilaria*. Amer. J. trop. Med. Hyg. 14, 263–268.
- Colwell, E. J., Armstrong, D. R., Brown, J. D., Duxbury, R. E., Sadun, E. H. & Legters, L. J. (1970). Epidemiologic and serologic investigations of filariasis in indigenous populations and American soldiers in South Vietnam. Amer. J. trop. Med. Hyg. 19, 227–231.
- Coudert, J., Ambroise-Thomas, P., Kien Truong, T. & Terreno, S. (1968). Diagnostic sérologique des filarioses par immunofluorescence sur coupes de *Dirofilaria immitis* et de *Dipetalonema viteae*. Résultats préliminaires portant sur 200 examens. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 61, 435–441.
- DESOWITZ, R. S., SAAVE, J. J. & SAWADA, T. (1966). Studies of the sero-epidemiology of parasitic infections in New Guinea. I. Population studies in the relationship of a skin test to microfilaraemia. Ann. trop. Med. Parasit. 60, 257–264.
- D'Haussy, R., Capron, A., Rolland, A. & Biguet, J. (1972). Rapport de l'immunologie à l'épidémiologie de l'onchocercose. Corrélations avec les données parasitologiques et ophtalmologiques. Rev. Immunol. 36, 55–68.
- Diesfeld, H. J. & Braun-Munzinger, R. (1972). Quantitative und qualitative Aspekte bei der Verwendung von Löschpapier als Träger von Blutproben für die Immun-Fluoreszenzdiagnostik der Filariose. Z. Tropenmed. Parasit. 23, 10–16.
- Dodin, A., Brygoo, E. R., Richaud, J. & Moreau, J. P. (1965). Etude électrophorétique et immunologique du sérum de filariens à *Wuchereria bancrofti* avant et après traitement à la diéthylcarbamazine. I. Etude électrophorétique et biologique. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 58, 1072—1079.
- Dodin, A., Moreau, J. P. & Lambert, C. (1965). Etude électrophorétique et immunologique de filariens à *Wuchereria bancrofti* avant et après traitement par la diéthylcarbamazine. II. Etude immunologique. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 58, 1079–1085.
- DUXBURY, R. E. & SADUN, E. H. (1967). Soluble antigen fluorescent antibody test (SAFA) for human filariasis. Exp. Parasit. 20, 77–82.

- FUJITA, K., TANAKA, H., SASA, M., SHICHINOHE, K., ASAI, Y. & KUROKAWA, K. (1970). Cross-reactions among filarial species in hemagglutination test. Jap. J. exp. Med. 40, 67–77.
- GENTILINI, M., PINON, J. M. & NIEL, G. (1972a). Electro-immunodiffusion sur membrane d'acétate de cellulose. Applications diagnostiques en parasitologie. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 65, 60–66.
- GENTILINI, M., PINON, J. M., NIEL, G. & DANIS, M. (1972b). Etude comparée des réactions de précipitation et d'immunofluorescence indirecte dans le diagnostic des filarioses. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 65, 849–858.
- GENTILINI, M., PINON, J. M., NIEL, G. & ROSIN, G. (1973). Test des rosettes et d'inhibition des migrations des leucocytes périphériques dans les filarioses humaines. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 66, 133–139.
- GENTILINI, M., PINON, J. M., RAFFIER, G. & NIEL, G. (1972c). Résultats d'une enquête sérologique sur 356 sujets atteints de dracunculose explorés par la technique d'immunofluorescence indirecte. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 65, 103–111.
- GIDEL, R.; BRENGUES, J. & RODHAIN, F. (1969). Essai de deux tests immunologiques (intradermoréaction et réaction de fixation du complément) pour le dépistage des filarioses dans des populations de Haute-Volta où coexistent Wuchereria bancrofti, Onchocerca volvulus et Dipetalonema perstans. Bull. Org. mond. Santé, 40, 831–842.
- HIGASHI, G. I., DASTIDAR, B. G. & CHOWDHURY, A. B. (1968). Skin test antigens from *Wuchereria bancrofti:* a preliminary report. Bull. Calcutta School trop. Med. 16, 7–9.
- KAGAN, I. G. (1963). A review of immunologic methods for the diagnosis of filariasis. J. Parasit. 49, 773–798.
- KAGAN, I. G., NORMAN, L. & ALLAIN, D. S. (1963). An evaluation of the Bentonite floculation and indirect hemagglutination tests for the diagnosis of filariasis. Amer. J. trop. Med. Hyg. 12, 548-555.
- KATAMINE, D. (1969). Skin reaction of bancroftian filariasis with a purified antigen, FPT, prepared from canine filaria, *Dirofilaria immitis*. Trop. Med. 11, 1–10.
- LARTIGUE, J. J. (1965). La réaction de fixation du complément dans le diagnostic de l'onchocercose. Rapport final 5e Conf. techn. OCCGE, Bobo-Dioulasso, 1, 165.
- Lucasse, G. (1962). Fluorescent antibody test for onchocerciasis. Z. Tropenmed. Parasit. 13, 404–408.
- Lucasse, C. & Hoeppli, R. (1963). Immunofluorescence in onchocerciasis. Z. Tropenmed. Parasit. 14, 262–269.
- Mantovani, A. & Sulzer, A. (1967). Indirect fluorescent antibody technique for diagnosis of canine filariasis. Amer. J. veter. Res. 28, 351–354.
- MULLER, R. (1970). *Dracunculus medinensis:* Diagnosis by indirect fluorescent antibody technique. Exp. Parasit. 27, 357–361.
- NIEL, G., GENTILINI, M., COUTURE, J., PINON, J. M. & DANIS, M. (1972). Application des extraits antigéniques d'Ascaris suum au diagnostic des filarioses en double diffusion. Valeur comparée à celle des antigènes Onchocerca volvulus et Dipetalonema viteae. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 65, 569–580.
- NIEL, G., GIDEL, R., COUTURE, J., PINON, J. M., BRENGUES, J. & GENTILINI, M. (1972). Etude d'un extrait antigénique de la filaire *Setaria labiatopapillosa* en double diffusion et en immunoélectrophorèse et appliqué au diagnostic immunologique des filarioses. Rev. Méd. et Maladies infectieuses, 2, 193–202.
- OLIVER-GONZALEZ, J. (1953). Intradermal reactions to schistosoma and filarial antigens in patients before and after treatment of the parasitic infections. Amer. J. trop. Med. Hyg. 2, 79–84.
- ORGANISATION MONDIALE DE LA SANTÉ (1965). Immunologie et maladies parasitaires. Org. mond. Santé Sér. Rapp. techn. No 315.

- ORGANISATION MONDIALE DE LA SANTÉ (1966). Comité d'experts de l'Onchocercose. Org. mond. Santé Sér. Rapp. techn. No 335.
- ORGANISATION MONDIALE DE LA SANTÉ (1967). Comité d'experts de la Filariose (infections à Wuchereria et à Brugia). Org. mond. Santé Sér. Rapp. techn. No 359.
- Petithory, J., Brumpt, L. C., Jaeger, G. & Soilleux, M. (1972). Etude sérologique de la loase en Ouchterlony au moyen d'un antigène homologue. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 65, 859–866.
- PINON, J. M. & GENTILINI, M. (1972). Intérêt de l'utilisation du Teepol dans les réactions d'immunofluorescence indirecte en vue de l'élimination des réactions croisées dans le diagnostic des filarioses. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 65, 307–308.
- PINON, J. M. & GENTILINI, M. (1973). Etude immunologique des filarioses humaines. Comparaison des tests cellulaires (rosettes, inhibition de la migration des leucocytes) et des tests sérologiques. La nouvelle Presse médicale, 2, 1283–1287.
- RODHAIN, J. & VAN DEN BRANDEN, F. (1916). Recherches diverses sur la Filaria (Onchocerca) volvulus. Bull. Soc. Path. exot. 9, 186–198.
- Rosé, G., Biguet, J., Rosé, F. & D'Haussy, R. (1966). Application d'une réaction d'hémagglutination au diagnostic de l'onchocercose. Rev. Hyg. Méd. soc. 14, 383–392.
- ROSSEAU BAELDE, M. & JANSSENS, P. G. (1961). Le diagnostic des filarioses humaines à l'aide de la réaction de fixation du complément. Ann. Soc. Belge Méd. trop. 41, 329–340.
- SATO, K. & SAWADA, T. (1969). Studies on skin test antigen FST for immunodiagnosis of filariasis. II. The fractionation of the main proteins contained in fractions FST 1, 2, 3 and 5 by disc electrophoresis. – Jap. J. exp. Med. 39, 435–440.
- SAWADA, T., KONO, M., SATO, S., YAMAMOTO, T. & TAKEI, K. (1962). Immunological studies on filariasis. I. Intradermal and precipitin tests with *Dirofilaria immitis* in canine and human filariasis. Gunna J. med. Sci. 11, 7–16.
- SAWADA, T., KONO, M., SATO, S., YAMAMOTO, T. & TAKEI, K. (1962). Immunological studies on filariasis. II. Intradermal tests with purified antigens in canine and human filariasis. Gunna J. med. Sci. 11, 17–24.
- SAWADA, T., SATO, S., MATSUYAMA, S., MIYAGI, H. & SHINZATO, J. (1968). Intradermal skin tests with antigen FST (FSCD1) on individuals in endemic area. Jap. J. exp. Med. 38, 405–414.
- SAWADA, T., SATO, K. & SATO, S. (1968). The purification of antigens for hemagglutination and complement fixation tests on filariasis and the substance responsable for skin tests in antigen FST. C. R. VIIIe Cong. intern. Méd. trop. Malar., Teheran, 89.
- SAWADA, T., SATO, K. & SATO, S. (1969). Studies on skin test antigen FST for immunodiagnosis of filariasis. I. Electrophoretic analysis and fractionation of antigen SFT. Jap. J. exp. Med. 39, 427–433.
- SAWADA, T., TAKEI, K., KATAMINE, D. & YOSHIMURA, T. (1965). Immunological studies on filariasis. III. Isolation and purification of antigen for intradermal skin test. Jap. J. exp. Med. 35, 125–132.
- SMITH, D. H., WILSON, T., BEREZANCEV, J. A., LYKOV, V., MYO PANG, CHARI, M. V. & DAVIS, A. (1971). Evaluation of the *Dirofilaria immitis* filarial skin test antigen in the diagnosis of filariasis. Bull. Org. mond. Santé, 44, 771–782.
- Tanaka, H., Fujita, K., Sasa, M., Tagawa, M., Naito, M. & Kurokawa, K. (1970). Cross reactions in complement fixation test among filaria species. Jap. J. exp. Med. 40, 47–58.

- Terreno, S. (1970). Diagnostic sérologique des filarioses humaines par immuno-fluorescence indirecte sur coupes de filaires adultes. A propos de 1685 examens. Thèse doct. Pharmacie Univers., Lyon, France, 131 pp., 138 réf.
- ULRICH, M., PINARDI, M. E. & CONVIT, J. (1970). Immunological reactions in onchocerciasis. Trans. roy. Soc. trop. Med. Hyg. 64, 111–113.
- Waltzing, P. & Bloch-Michel, H. (1971). Le phénomène des rosettes filariennes. Intérêt pour le diagnostic des arthrites filariennes. Presse médicale, 79, 2061–2063
- Yong, W. K. (1973). Indirect fluorescent antibody technique with micro-fragments of *Wuchereria bancrofti*. Trans. roy. Soc. trop. Med. Hyg. 67, 338–344.

#### Zusammenfassung

Die Filariosen bilden wahrscheinlich eines der komplexesten Gebiete der serologischen Diagnostik parasitärer Erkrankungen. In diesem Übersichtsartikel ist versucht worden, eine Bilanz der Resultate der letzten 10 Jahre zu ziehen. Im ersten Teil werden die hauptsächlichsten verwendeten Methoden analysiert: Intradermaltest, Komplementbindungsreaktion, passive Haemagglutination, zweidimensionale Geldiffusion, Immunoelektrophorese und Immunofluoreszenz. Vor- und Nachteile der einzelnen Methoden sind dargestellt. Die wichtigsten Probleme der serologischen Filarien-Diagnostik sind des weiteren umfassend diskutiert worden. Diese betreffen vor allem den Wert der verschiedenen Antigene: Spezifische Antigene (z. B. Wuchereria bancrofti, Onchocerca volvulus) und Gruppenantigene (Dirofilaria immitis und Dipetalonema vitae) sowie die Möglichkeiten, diese Antigene zu erhalten. Im gesamten gesehen nehmen die verschiedenen empfindlichen immundiagnostischen Methoden einen großen Platz in der Filariendiagnostik, in posttherapeutischen Kontrollen und in epidemiologischen Untersuchungen ein. Zwar sind die Schlüsse von verschiedenen Autoren, die die gleiche Methode verwenden, manchmal widersprüchlich. Überdies machen häufig Kreuzreaktionen mit verschiedenen Nematoden eine Interpretation der Resultate schwierig.

#### Résumé

Les filarioses constituent probablement l'un des domaines les plus complexes de la séro-immunologie parasitaire. Dans cette revue générale, on a tenté de faire le bilan des résultats acquis au cours de ces dix dernières années. Dans une première partie, sont envisagées de façon analytique les principales méthodes utilisées: intra-dermo-réactions, tests de fixation du complément, d'hémagglutination passive, de double diffusion en gélose et d'immuno-électrophorèse, d'immunofluorescence. Les avantages et les inconvénients inhérants à chacune de ces méthodes sont successivements considérés. Les principaux problèmes de la séroimmunologie des filarioses sont ensuite discutés de façon synthétique. Ils concernent notamment la valeur des différents antigènes utilisés: antigènes spécifiques (Wuchereria bancrofti, Onchocerca volvulus par exemple) ou antigènes de groupe (Dirofilaria immitis ou Dipetalonema vitae généralement) et leur facilité d'obtention. Dans l'ensemble, les diverses méthodes séro-immunologiques paraissent susceptibles de prendre une large place dans le diagnostic, le contrôle postthérapeutique, l'étude épidémiologique ou pathogénique des filarioses. Cependant, les conclusions de différents auteurs utilisant pourtant un même test sont parfois contradictoires. En outre, l'interprétation de ces résultats est toujours rendue difficile par l'existence de nombreuses réactions croisées entre les divers nématodes.